OLD ENEMIES WITH NEW PROBLEMS? INVESTIGATING THE ECOLOGICAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RIDGWAY'S HAWK AND THE PARASITIC NEST

FLY PHILORNIS PICI

by

Christine Deegear Hayes



A thesis

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Raptor Biology Boise State University

August 2019

Christine Deegear Hayes

SOME RIGHTS RESERVED



This work is licensed under a Creative

Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 4.0

License.

BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE COLLEGE

DEFENSE COMMITTEE AND FINAL READING APPROVALS

of the thesis submitted by

Christine Deegear Hayes

Thesis Title: Old Enemies with New Problems? Investigating the Ecological Relationship Between Ridgway's Hawk and the Parasitic Nest Fly *Philornis Pici*

Date of Final Oral Examination: 19 April 2019

The following individuals read and discussed the thesis submitted by student Christine Deegear Hayes, and they evaluated her presentation and response to questions during the final oral examination. They found that the student passed the final oral examination.

David Anderson, Ph.D.	Chair, Supervisory Committee
Stephen Novak, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Ian C. Robertson, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee

The final reading approval of the thesis was granted by David Anderson, Ph.D., Chair of the Supervisory Committee. The thesis was approved by the Graduate College.

DEDICATION

To my family: my nine siblings for honing my survival skills, Mom for teaching me to love the outdoors, and Dad for teaching me to love science.

To Mojave, my daughter, who keeps me honest.

To Thomas, my husband, helper, best friend, and confidant, who loves unconditionally and always encourages me to grow, test myself, and never stop trying new things.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources of the Dominican Republic granted permits for conservation research in Los Haitises National Park. Thank you to APLIC, Carolynn and Jack Loacker, Charles Engelhard Foundation, Coypu Foundation, Disney Conservation Fund, Doolin Foundation for Biodiversity, Ford International Business Development Inc., Fundación Grupo Puntacana, Fundación Propagas, Idea Wild, Morris Animal Foundation (D17ZO-006), Raptor Research Center at Boise State University, The Eppley Foundation for Research, USFWS Wildlife Without Borders, Wolf Creek Charitable Foundation, and ZOODOM for invaluable financial, material, and logistical support.

Thank you also to an anonymous reviewer, S. Converse, and S. Knutie, for their thoughtful reviews of earlier versions of Chapter 1.

I am indebted to many Dominican and international technicians and volunteers who performed fieldwork – ¡muchísimas gracias! M. Curti, V. Galvan, C. Galvan, E. Fernandez, E. Moreta, E. Gesto de Jesus, M. Quiroga, and friends and neighbors in Los Haitises provided expertise and emotional support for which I am truly grateful.

The indefatigable and unstinting statistical wizards, L. Bond and C. McClure were so patient and taught me so much; without their expertise and advice this project would not have been what it is.

The graduate student community at BSU provided commiseration, encouragement, acceptance, and shared their knowledge. They supported me when I was down and helped me not to feel completely insane. Thank you to all of the staff at the Department of Biological Sciences, The Raptor Research Center, and The Peregrine Fund for all of the coordination and technical support. I am also deeply indebted to the DBS faculty for encouraging me to pursue higher education and to always ask questions. A special thanks to J. Heath for being a role model scientist and to E. Strasser for taking me under her wing, giving me a window into graduate school and fostering me as an undergrad.

I am especially grateful to Boise State University and to The Peregrine Fund for their collaboration on this project, for giving me this amazing opportunity, and for funding my education and research.

Thank you to my committee members, S. Novak and I. Robertson, who were dedicated and patient with me while sharing their wisdom and experience.

Finally, I would like to thank David L. Anderson, my long-suffering advisor, who was always there when I needed him with genuine encouragement. He consistently helped me to organize thoughts, find questions as well as answers, and helped me to move forward by using many more carrots than sticks.

ABSTRACT

Modern conservation efforts tend not to focus on individual species, but rather on the entire ecosystem of a species in peril. Many ecological factors can affect a species' ability to maintain healthy populations. Parasites, which derive nutrients at the expense of their hosts, can reduce host fitness and limit population growth, acting as biological controls in healthy ecosystems. The negative impacts of parasites on their hosts can be exacerbated by climate change and anthropogenic land-use practices in ways that may limit recovery or drive host species to extinction. Introduced parasitic nest flies in the genus *Philornis* (Diptera: Muscidae) are threatening the extinction of bird species in the Galápagos, yet almost nothing is known about Philornis-host ecology in systems where the fly is native. To fill this knowledge gap, we examined the ecological relationship between the parasitic nest fly *Philornis pici* and its host, the Critically Endangered Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) in Los Haitises National Park in the Dominican Republic. We excluded nest flies from some Ridgway's hawk broods and compared fledging success with that of control broods, from which flies were not excluded. Treated young had an 89% lower infestation rate and were 179% more likely to fledge than were untreated (control) young. Further, because of the recent history of deforestation in the region, we measured biotic variables around untreated Ridgway's hawk broods and compared these values with abundance and prevalence of nest fly infestation in nestling hawks. We found P. pici infestation was negatively associated with grass-cover around hawk nests, which suggests that managing certain aspects of land cover may be a way to

vii

mitigate parasitism levels of Ridgway's hawks. Our work is novel in that we offer the first measurable impact of nest fly infestation on survival or productivity in a non-passerine host. Our findings suggest that *P. pici* parasitism of hawk nestlings could be a factor in the decline of the Ridgway's hawk.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
ABSTRACT vii
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES xii
CHAPTER ONE: NATIVE PARASITIC NEST FLY IMPACTS REPRODUCTIVE SUCCESS OF AN ISLAND-ENDEMIC HOST1
Abstract1
Resumen en Español2
Introduction
Methods6
Study Area6
Data Collection6
Statistical Analyses
Results10
Discussion11
Acknowledgements14
References15
Tables and Figures

CHAPTER TWO: ECOLOGICAL CORRELATES OF THE PARASITIC NEST FLY PHILORNIS PICI ABUNDANCE IN RIDGWAY'S HAWK (BUTEO RIDGWAYI) IN THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
Abstract
Introduction
Methods
Study Area
Statistical Analysis
References40
Tables46
APPENDIX A
Photographs of study organisms and Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic
APPENDIX B
Permission to Publish Chapter 163

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 2.3 Coefficients (β) of top models (see methods for model selection process) for linear mixed models \pm standard error, comparing log+1 of *P. pici* larvae to vegetation variables as well as age and visit-date for Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2016 and 2017. 85% confidence intervals are in parentheses...48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	For Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2015 and 2016. A) Maximum counts of <i>Philornis</i> <i>pici</i> larvae for hawk nestlings in untreated control nests (gray points) and treatment nests (black points) in which <i>P. pici</i> abundance was controlled by spraying nests and nestlings with 0.25% fipronil solution and manual removal of larvae from nestlings. Open points show nestlings that died before fledging and closed points show nestlings that survived to fledge. B) Average number of hawk nestlings fledged per pair for control (gray points) and treatment (black points). In A) and B) bars represent means, and points are jittered for visibility. C) The relationship between nestling survival and maximum larva count on a given nestling. Gray shading is the 95% confidence interval. Note that in A) all <i>P. pici</i> larva counts ≥ 8 in the treatment group derive from nestlings prior to receiving their first treatment of fipronil (see Methods)
Figure A.1	Philornis pici adult (Photo: Martín Quiroga) 50
Figure A.2	Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) adult
Figure A.3	Three <i>Philornis pici</i> larvae in the left leg of a nestling Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>)
Figure A.4	Philornis pici larvae in the face of a nestling Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi)
Figure A.5	Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) adult pair on their self-made nest in a deciduous tree (Photo: Thomas Hayes)
Figure A.6	Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) adult pair in their nest atop a palmchat (<i>Dulus dominicus</i>) communal nest structure in a royal palm (<i>Roystonea borinquena</i>)
Figure A.7	Man-made path through forest vegetation in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic
Figure A.8	Cultivated valley between limestone karst hills with secondary forest vegetation in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic

Figure A.9	A climber accesses a Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) nest in a royal palm tree (<i>Roystonea borinquena</i>). The palm is in a small valley pasture and secondary forest growth is visible on the rocky karst hill in the hadvereurd (Lee Unities National Park Deminison Perublic).
	background (Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic)
Figure A.10	Palmchat (<i>Dulus dominicus</i>) adult
Figure A.11	View from below: palmchat (<i>Dulus dominicus</i>) communal nest structure in a coconut palm (<i>Cocos nucifera</i>)
Figure A.12	Climber, Thomas Hayes accessing a palmchat (<i>Dulus dominicus</i>) nest in a coconut palm (<i>Cocos nucifera</i>)
Figure A.13	Climber, Thomas Hayes, standing between two palmchat (<i>Dulus dominicus</i>) nests in a royal palm (<i>Roystonea borinquena</i>). The palm is located in a small-valley farm plot between low karst hills in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic

CHAPTER ONE: NATIVE PARASITIC NEST FLY IMPACTS REPRODUCTIVE

SUCCESS OF AN ISLAND-ENDEMIC HOST

This chapter is reprinted with the generous permission of John Wiley and Sons*

Original manuscript:

Hayes, C. D., Hayes, T. I., McClure, C. J., Quiroga, M., Thorstrom, R. K. and Anderson, D. L. (2018), Native parasitic nest fly impacts reproductive success of an islandendemic host. Anim Conserv. doi:10.1111/acv.12449

Abstract

Parasitic nest flies (*Philornis* spp.) are a driving force threatening the extinction of bird species endemic to Neotropical islands such as the Galápagos, where introduced *Philornis downsi* negatively impacts reproductive success of naïve avian hosts. Elsewhere in the Neotropics, such as in the Caribbean region where *Philornis* nest flies are native, effects of *Philornis* on host productivity are poorly known. We manipulated parasitism by the native Hispaniolan nest fly *Philornis pici* on a critically endangered endemic host, Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) to study the impact of nest fly myiasis on hawk breeding success with the goal of providing a management option for endangered species until broad-scale solutions can be found. Our treatment protocol was enough to reduce *P. pici* abundance by 89% and increase probability of fledging by 179% for treated nestlings. Our results indicate that parasitism by nest flies decreases survival and fledging success of nestling Ridgway's hawks and is a possible factor in the decline of the species. To our knowledge, this work represents the first quantitative evidence of nest fly impact on survival or productivity in a non-passerine host. **Capítulo Uno:** Moscas parásitas nativas impactan negativamente la reproducción de un hospedador endémico de una isla

Resumen en Español

Las moscas parásitas del género *Philornis* constituyen una amenaza que puede llevar a la extinción a numerosas especies de aves endémicas de islas neotropicales; tal como sucede en las islas Galápagos. Allí, la introducida Philornis downsi afecta negativamente el éxito reproductivo de aves que no han sido expuestas con anterioridad a parásitos similares. Sin embargo en otros lugares de los Neotrópicos, como en la región del Caribe donde las moscas de este género son nativas, los efectos de estos parásitos sobre la productividad de los hospedadores son escasamente conocidos. El gavilán de la española (Buteo ridgwayi) especie endémica y críticamente amenazada que habita la isla de la Española, ha sido reportada como hospedador de la también nativa *Philornis pici*. Mediante la manipulación del parasitismo hemos estudiado el impacto de estas moscas parásitas en el éxito reproductivo del gavilán de la española con el objetivo de proveer una opción de manejo para especies altamente amenazadas hasta que puedan ser encontradas soluciones de largo plazo. Nuestro tratamiento posibilitó reducir la abundancia de *P. pici* en un 89% e incrementar la producción de volantones en un 179%. Nuestros resultados indican que el parasitismo de esta especie de moscas parásitas reduce la supervivencia y las tasas de producción de volantones del gavilán de la española y podría constituir un factor de relevancia en la declinación poblacional de esta especie. Hasta donde es de nuestro conocimiento, este trabajo representa la primera evidencia

cuantitativa sobre el impacto en la supervivencia y productividad en un hospedador no paseriforme.

Introduction

Although many avian parasite species are described in the literature, their effects on host fitness are poorly known, thus limiting our understanding of host population dynamics (Toft 1991). For example, *Philornis* Meinert (Diptera: Muscidae), a genus of flies that are obligate parasites of nestling birds in much of the Neotropics (Couri 1999; Teixeira 1999; de Carvalho et al. 2005; Dudaniec & Kleindorfer 2006), contains about 50 described species, yet few data exist regarding *Philornis* host-parasite relationships. Adult *Philornis* flies are non-parasitic, but larvae live in nest material or under the skin of nestling birds, feeding on blood and other fluids (Dudaniec & Kleindorfer 2006). Recent work in the Galapagos indicates that myiasis (infection of living tissue by fly larvae) caused by introduced Philornis downsi negatively affects reproductive success of previously unexposed avian host species (henceforth "naïve hosts"), and is a driving force threatening the extinction of several endemic bird species (Koop et al. 2011, 2015; Knutie et al. 2014). Philornis downsi, introduced to the Galápagos ca. 1960 (Causton et al. 2006, Causton, Cunninghame & Tapia 2013; Dudaniec & Kleindorfer 2006; Kleindorfer & Sulloway 2016), negatively affects fledging rates in eight species of Darwin's finches (Fessl & Tebbich 2002; Fessl, Kleindorfer & Tebbich 2006, Fessl et al. 2010). Now considered invasive, *P. downsi* has been implicated in the rapid decline of at least two critically endangered species, the mangrove finch (*Camarhynchus heliobates*) and the medium tree finch (*Camarhynchus pauper*; Fessl & Tebbich 2002; Fessl et al.

2010; O'Connor et al. 2010b), and likely contributed to the local extinction of Darwin's warbler finch (*Certhidea fusca*) on Floreana Island (Grant et al. 2005).

Elsewhere in the Neotropics, less is known about *Philornis*-host relationships within the native ranges of hosts and parasites. The Caribbean is a recognized biodiversity hotspot (Stattersfield et al. 1998; Mittermeier et al. 1999; Myers et al. 2000), and recent declines of endemic birds in the region are troubling. Of the ca. 770 bird species found on Caribbean islands, 73 are threatened with extinction and 12 are considered Critically Endangered (BirdLife International 2016). Although parasitism by *Philornis* spp. is known to occur in Caribbean birds, parasite-host ecology remains almost completely unquantified except in two native songbird species (see Knutie et al. 2017). Improving our understanding of *Philornis*-host relationships may prove important to bird conservation.

Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) is a medium-sized raptor endemic to the island of Hispaniola and satellite islands in the Caribbean (Wiley & Wiley 1981). The hawk formerly occurred in a variety of woodland and edge habitat types from 0–1800 masl, and currently breeds in a mosaic of secondary forest, small agricultural and pastoral plots, and disturbed landscapes (Wiley & Wiley 1981; Thorstrom et al. 2005, Thorstrom, Almonte & Balbuena 2007; Woolaver 2011; Anderson et al. 2017). In recent years, Ridgway's hawk has suffered dramatic population declines. As of 2009, the single extant natural population of the hawk was estimated at fewer than 109 pairs, decreasing at a rate of 21% between 2006 and 2009, and calculated to be on track for extinction within 20 years (Thorstrom et al. 2007; Woolaver 2011). Reasons for the species' decline remain speculative (Woolaver 2011), but biologists working for The Peregrine Fund on Hispaniola in 2011 began noticing high rates of parasitism and associated nestling mortality from the native nest fly *Philornis pici*, raising concern that parasitism is a contributing factor to hawk population declines.

The genus *Philornis* was first described with the discovery of *P. pici* on Hispaniola in 1854 (Macquart), thus establishing its native range within that of Ridgway's hawk. Wiley and Wiley (1981) reported subcutaneous-dwelling *Philornis* larvae infesting young in a single Ridgway's hawk nest, but no previous effort has been made to quantify the effects of *Philornis* spp. in Ridgway's hawk or any other nonpasserine bird.

Given the possibility that *Philornis* nest flies may be adversely affecting Ridgway's hawk populations, the present study aimed to quantify the effects of *P. pici* on nestling mortality and number of offspring fledged per pair (i.e., reproductive success) of Ridgway's hawk, and to test a method for reducing parasitism in nestling birds in the field. Specifically, we applied the broad-based insecticide fipronil to hawk nests and nestlings and physically removed nest fly larvae from nestlings to reduce the abundance (number of larvae per nestling) of *P. pici*. We then modeled the effect of *P. pici* abundance on survival and fledging success in untreated and treated nestlings. To confirm the efficacy of our treatment in reducing parasite abundance in nestling birds, we first evaluated the effect of treatment on the abundance of *P. pici* larvae on nestlings. Further, we hypothesized that (1) the reduction in parasite load accomplished by treatments would increase the number of young fledged per pair, and (2) that the survival of nestlings would be negatively related to larval load.

Methods

Study Area

Los Haitises National Park encompasses ca. 600 km² (reduced from 1600 km² in 2004) in northeast Hispaniola. With an elevation range of 0–380 masl, the region is defined by steep rolling hills and sinkhole valleys formed from limestone karst (Monroe 1966). Los Haitises is an area of high biological diversity. However, due to logging to build infrastructure for sugar cane production in the 1960s, and the subsequent establishment of smallholder farming and cattle communities within the park, it is also an area of moderate to high levels of anthropogenic disturbance (Marizán 1994; Brothers 1997a, 1997b). The combined effects of forest conversion to agriculture and pasture, and associated forest fires, had fragmented and reduced primary vegetation coverage to 10-17% of the park as of 1989 (Dirección Nacional de Parques 1991; Brothers 1997b), an amount that has certainly diminished in the 29 intervening years.

Data Collection

We identified nesting pairs of Ridgway's hawk from January through May, 2015 and 2016. When pairs of hawks laid eggs and began incubation, we randomly assigned them to either control (n = 42) or treatment (n = 64) groups; the probability of a pair being assigned to a treatment group = 0.5 independent probability. Unequal number of pairs in the control and the treatment groups was due to some pairs failing during the incubation period or before we recorded nestlings in the nest. After eggs hatched, we visited nests weekly to examine individual nestlings and to tally the number of subcutaneous-dwelling *P. pici* larvae. Larvae of *P. pici* are easily seen or felt beneath nestling skin and feathers because each larva forms a lump and remains at its point of entry until it is ready to emerge and pupate (Manzoli et al. 2013). We sprayed nests in the treatment group weekly with ca. 5 cc of fipronil (0.25% solution) to prevent the emergence of any nest fly pupae already inhabiting the nest. We removed nestlings and any prey remains prior to spraying and returned them after the nests had dried (approximately 10 minutes). We did not manually remove any larvae or pupae from nests, only from nestlings. Larvae of *P. pici* do not inhabit the nest material except to pupate; to search for and remove pupae from the nest material would have destroyed nests.

We used topical application of fipronil for nestling hawks upon recommendation of the Santo Domingo Zoo, because they have successfully used this method for many years in both adult and young raptors as well as other birds (A. Nuñez, pers. com). To our knowledge, current literature on negative effects of fipronil in birds is limited to ingestion studies (Gibbons, Morrissey & Mineau 2014). Fipronil ingestion seems to have a wide range of effects in birds, from being practically non-toxic in mallard ducks, Anas *platyrhynchos* (LD₅₀ 2,150 mg/kg), to highly toxic in gallinaceous birds such as the Northern bobwhite quail, *Colinus virginianus* (LD₅₀ 11.3 mg/kg; Tingle et al. 2003). In rats (*Rattus* sp.), topical application of fipronil was absorbed at a rate of less than 1% of the administered dose (FAO & WHO 1998). For the present study, we used the minimum effective topical dose for prevention of *P. pici* infestation of Ridgway's hawks, based on preliminary trials (T. I. Hayes & C. D. Hayes, unpubl. data). To date we are not aware of any other study of fipronil use in raptors. We treated nestlings topically with 14mg/kg fipronil once per week for the first three visits, and on alternating weeks thereafter. We applied fipronil to the exposed skin of nestlings, between feather tracts, as evenly as

possible over the body while avoiding orifices, using a 1-cc or 5-cc syringe and a bluntpoint application needle.

We removed and saved for identification any larvae found parasitizing nestlings in the treatment group. We used this approach because previous work found that, post treatment, any larvae that remained in nestling integument would inevitably die and decompose in situ, causing bacterial infections and pus-filled inclusion cysts with the potential to deform nestlings and affect their health (T. I. Hayes & C. D. Hayes unpubl. data). Because the primary goal of the present study was to test for effects of *P. pici* on reproductive success of hawks, rather than testing the effect of fipronil per se, the removal of larvae from treated nestlings was used to ensure that the effect of interest – abundance of *P. pici* – was indeed reduced by the treatment, while also minimizing the risk of infection in nestlings due to decomposition of larvae killed by fipronil.

We recorded nestling age in days for each visit. When nestlings reached ca. 30 days of age we banded them with uniquely coded, color-anodized aluminum leg bands (Acraft©). Fledging was confirmed by identifying banded young after they left the nest. We operated this study under Boise State University IACUC protocol 006-AC15-020.

Statistical Analyses

We conducted three analyses to evaluate our hypotheses regarding the effect of *P*. *pici* larvae on Ridgway's hawk nestlings. (1) To confirm that our treatment did indeed result in lower loads of *P. pici* larvae on nestlings, we compared the count of *P. pici* larvae per nestling per visit between control and treatment groups using generalized linear mixed models with Poisson distributions built in R (R Core Team 2017) and package lme4 (Bates et al. 2015). To control for repeated sampling of broods and

nestlings, the *P. pici* model included random effects of individual nestlings nested within each brood and fixed effects of treatment and year. (2) To test our hypothesis about the effect of treatment on fledgling production, we compared the number of offspring fledged per pair between control and treatment groups using a generalized linear model with a Poisson distribution including treatment and year as predictor variables. We used this model to develop a model-based prediction of fledglings produced from the control versus treatment groups according to the formula $n_{2015} * (\exp(\beta_0 + \beta_{\text{Treat}}) - (\exp(\beta_0)) +$ n_{2016} * (exp($\beta_0 + \beta_{\text{Treat}} + \beta_{\text{vear}}$) – (exp($\beta_0 + \beta_{\text{vear}}$), where n is the number of nests treated in a given year, β_0 is the intercept, β_{Treat} is the treatment coefficient, and β_{year} is the effect of year 2016 compared to year 2015. We calculated the median as the point estimate and 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles as the 95% confidence interval of 1000 non-parametric bootstraps. (3) To test our hypothesis about the effect of *P. pici* abundance on nestling survival, we used a generalized linear mixed model with a binomial distribution and logit link (Hedlin & Franke 2017). This binomial model included a random effect of brood and fixed effects of year and maximum count of *P. pici*. We calculated R² values using the method described by Nakagawa and Schielzeth (2013) with the package MuMIn (Barton 2016).

During field studies of avian productivity, failed nests are often underrepresented because researchers are more likely to find successful nests (Mayfield 1961). This phenomenon can bias productivity estimates if not controlled for during analysis (e.g., Heisey, Shaffer & White 2007; Johnson 2007; Converse et al. 2013) or study design (Johnson & Shaffer 1990). Because we only considered nests monitored from hatching onwards (for our purposes termed "nesting attempt"), the probabilities of detecting failed and successful nests are equal—thus negating the need to adjust our estimates for different sampling periods (Johnson 2007).

Results

We observed 106 nesting attempts (42 control, 64 treatment) and 186 nestlings (71 control, 115 treatment). Regarding the effects of *P. pici* larvae on Ridgway's hawk, we found the following.

Treatment with fipronil combined with manual removal of nest fly larvae reduced *P. pici* abundance significantly (Table 1.1). Average maximum count of *P. pici* larvae was 16.44 in untreated nestlings (range 0 - 84, SD = 15.58), and 1.73 in treated nestlings (range 0 - 26, SD = 4.44; Fig. 1.1A, Table 1.2). Prevalence (presence/absence) of *P. pici* parasitism in untreated nests averaged 88% (Table 1.2).

There was a significant effect of treatment on fledgling production per pair (Table 1.1). The average number of nestlings fledged per pair was 0.48 ± 0.74 in the control group and 1.41 ± 0.75 in the treatment group (Fig. 1.1B, Table 1.2).

Parasitism significantly lowered survival of nestlings to fledging; the probability of a nestling surviving to fledge for both 2015 and 2016 combined was 0.28 for the control group and 0.78 for the treatment group, resulting in 59.59 (95% CI = 38.43— 77.03) more nestlings fledging in the treatment group (Table 1.2). Treated nestlings contained 89% fewer parasites than untreated nestlings and this was associated with a 179% ((0.78-0.28)/0.28) increase in the probability of a single nestling fledging. Odds of a nestling surviving to fledge decreased by 14% (1 - odds ratio for slope coefficient; SE = 5%) with each one-larva increase in maximum *P. pici* count per nestling (Fig. 1.1C). An effect of year was apparent only for the number of *P. pici* larvae per nestling per visit (Table 1.1).

Discussion

Our findings support the hypothesis that parasitic nest flies can reduce the reproductive success of an island-endemic host in the shared, native range of both species. Productivity of Ridgway's hawk pairs declined with increasing levels of parasitism by *P. pici*. Our results provided no indication that short-term, topical use of fipronil 0.25% solution negatively affected survival of young when used at a rate of 14mg/kg. Although sub-lethal effects of the treatment may exist, the benefit of increased survival seems to outweigh potential costs to nestlings. Indeed, based on our analysis, we predict that the increase in nestling survival in response to the treatment resulted in production of roughly 60 Ridgway's hawk fledglings that otherwise would have potentially died. Although previous reports exist of *Philornis* parasitism in raptors (Wiley & Wiley 1981; Delannoy 1984; Leite et al. 2009; Reyes & Astudillo-Sánchez 2017), to our knowledge we provide the first quantitative data describing nest fly effects on survival and productivity in raptors or any non-passerine host.

In both introduced and native ranges of nest flies, host response to parasitism varies by host species. mockingbird (*Mimus* spp.) nestlings in the Galápagos, where nest flies are introduced, and on Tobago, where they are native, demonstrated immune and behavioral responses to parasitism, and survived heavy nest fly loads (Knutie 2014; Knutie et al. 2017). In contrast, Darwin's finches (Galápagos) and black-faced grassquits (*Tiaris bicolor*, Tobago) suffered severe declines in productivity due to nest flies (Koop et al. 2011; Knutie et al. 2017). In Puerto Rico, pearly-eyed thrasher (*Margarops*)

fuscatus) nestlings survived infestations of >60 nest fly larvae (Arendt 1985), whereas infestations as low as two nest fly larvae were associated with mortality in a non-passerine host, Puerto Rican sharp-shinned hawk (*Accipiter striatus venator*, Delannoy & Cruz 1991).

Ridgway's hawk life history traits may partially explain severe effects of nest flies on hawk fitness. Interspecific differences of nest fly abundance have been attributed to clutch size (Fessl & Tebbich 2002) and host body size (Dudaniec, Fessl & Kleindorfer 2007; O'Connor, Robertson, Kleindorfer 2010a). The small clutch size (1 to 3 eggs), large mass (280 to 450g), and long nestling period (about 45 days) in Ridgway's hawk may put its nestlings at increased risk of severe infestations by concentrating larvae loads in few large nestlings and allowing for multiple generations of flies to exploit the same brood.

Previous studies have also used nest fumigation as a means of parasite control, including to increase reproductive success of birds in other conservation efforts (Fessl et al. 2006; Knutie et al. 2014, and reviewed in Causton & Lincango 2014). Increasing reproductive output through management of nests can affect growth, or decline, of a population (Catry et al. 2009; Altwegg et al. 2014; McClure et al. 2016). For example, the addition of nest platforms for aplomado falcons (*Falco femoralis*) in Texas nearly doubled pair productivity, which reversed the population growth rate from declining to increasing (McClure et al. 2016). The near tripling of productivity for Ridgway's hawks in the present study supports the efficacy of our treatment for management of nest fly infestations. Whether the treatment used in our study boosts productivity enough to substantially improve population growth rate of Ridgway's hawk remains to be

determined. Future studies are needed to verify if Ridgway's hawk population can still grow under the pressure of *P. pici* or if intervention is crucial for the continued survival of the species. Recent work suggests that post-fledging survival rates for Ridgway's hawk are relatively high in comparison to other *Buteo* spp., (McClure et al. 2017), which might buffer the effect of nestling mortality on population growth rate (Sæther & Bakke 2000). Future efforts to understand the relationship between nest parasites and Ridgway's hawk productivity should include the development of a population model to assess the effects of nest treatment at the population level.

Knutie et al. (2017) suggest that the natural enemies of nest flies help to control their numbers in native populations, with prevalence (presence/absence) of parasitism by nest flies in native systems tending to be below 50%, whereas prevalence is between 80-100% in systems where the flies have been introduced. In our study, nest fly prevalence in untreated Ridgway's hawk nests averaged 88% (Table 1.2). Manzoli et al. (2013) found that *Philornis torquans* prevalence in the temperate pampas of Argentina was inversely related to average forest height and positively correlated with shrub coverage, both associated with forest clearing. Le Gros, Stracey & Robinson (2011) found that the proportion of nests parasitized by *Philornis porteri* in humid, subtropical Florida, USA, increased with some aspects of urbanization, such as residential areas and pastureland and decreased with others, such as parking lots. Further investigation is needed to examine the role of landscape change and other anthropogenic activities in Los Haitises (Dirección Nacional de Parques 1991; Marizán 1994; Brothers 1997a, 1997b; Rivera, Zimmerman & Aide 2000) in relation to the prevalence and abundance of *P. pici* and its natural enemies (see Knutie et al. 2017). In contrast to the enemy release hypothesis, the

observed preference of *Philornis* spp. for some bird species that can sustain high levels of parasitism can create a phenomenon of reservoir hosts (Antoniazzi et al. 2010; Quiroga, Reboreda & Beltzer 2012; Manzoli et al. 2013; Knutie 2014) that drive nest fly prevalence and morbidity in other, less resilient host species. Further investigation is needed to determine if *P. pici* is benefitting from either enemy release or the increased presence of a reservoir host species on Hispaniola.

Woolaver (2011) listed reasons for conservation concern for Ridgway's hawk, including human persecution and habitat loss. Although habitat loss is often given as a primary reason for species decline, it is hard to rationalize the near extinction of a habitat and dietary generalist such as Ridgway's hawk solely, or even primarily, by habitat disturbance. We speculate that parasitism by *P. pici* may have an additive effect when presented with these other elements. Efforts to understand the underlying causes of Ridgway's hawk population declines should include a focus on factors that may affect distribution and density of *Philornis* spp. on Hispaniola. Understanding recent shifts in ecological systems and how they relate to avian myiasis may be an essential step in longterm conservation of island biodiversity in the Neotropics.

Acknowledgements

The Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources of the Dominican Republic granted permits for conservation research in Los Haitises National Park. We thank APLIC, Carolynn and Jack Loacker, Charles Engelhard Foundation, Coypu Foundation, Disney Conservation Fund, Doolin Foundation for Biodiversity, Ford International Business Development Inc., Fundación Grupo Puntacana, Fundación Propagas, Idea Wild, Morris Animal Foundation (D17ZO-006), Raptor Research Center at Boise State University, The Eppley Foundation for Research, USFWS Wildlife Without Borders, Wolf Creek Charitable Foundation, and ZOODOM for invaluable financial, material, and logistical support. We are indebted to many Dominican and international technicians and volunteers who performed fieldwork. M. Curti, E. Fernandez, E. Moreta, M. Hayes, and friends and neighbors in Los Haitises provided expertise and emotional support for which we are truly grateful. We also thank an anonymous reviewer, S. Converse, S. Knutie, S. Novak, and I. Robertson, for their thoughtful reviews of earlier versions of this manuscript.

References

- Altwegg R, Jenkins A, Abadi F. 2014. Nestboxes and immigration drive the growth of an urban Peregrine Falcon *Falco peregrinus* population. Ibis **156**:107–115.
- Anderson DL, Thorstrom R, Hayes CD, Hayes TI. 2017. Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*), version 1.0. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York, USA. Available from https://doi.org/10.2173/nb.ridhaw1.01.
- Antoniazzi LR, Manzoli DE, Rohrmann D, Saravia MJ, Silvestri L, Beldomenico PM, Pablo Beldomenico CM, Kitchener A. 2010. Climate variability affects the impact of parasitic flies on Argentinean forest birds. Journal of Zoology 283:126–134.
- Arendt WJ (USDA FS. 1985. *Philornis* ectoparasitism of pearly-eyed thrashers. II. Effects on adults and reproduction. Auk **102**:281–292.
- Barton K. 2016. MuMIn: Multi-model inference. R package version 1.15.6. Available from http://r-forge.r-project.org/projects/mumin (accessed January 1, 2018).
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker BM, Walker S. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software **67**:1–48.
- BirdLife International. 2016. Bird species distribution maps of the world. Version 6.0. Available from http://datazone.birdlife.org/species/requestdis.

- Brothers TS. 1997a. Deforestation in the Dominican Republic: a village-level view. Environmental Conservation **24**:213–223.
- Brothers TS. 1997b. Destruction of a lowland tropical forest, Los Haitises, Dominican Republic. Ambio **26**:551–552.
- Catry I, Alcazar R, Franco AMA, Sutherland WJ. 2009. Identifying the effectiveness and constraints of conservation interventions: A case study of the endangered lesser kestrel. Biological Conservation 142:2782–2791.
- Causton C, Cunninghame F, Tapia W. 2013. Management of the avian parasite *Philornis downsi* in the Galápagos Islands: a collaborative and strategic action plan. Galapagos Report 2011-2012:167–173.
- Causton CE, Lincango MP. 2014. Review of chemical control methods for use against *Philornis downsi* in nests of threatened Galápagos birds, with an in-depth nontarget risk assessment of permethrin. Technical Report No 1-2014. Charles Darwin Foundation for the Galápagos Islands. ISSN: 1390-6526.
- Causton CE, Peck SB, Sinclair BJ, Roque-Albelo L, Hodgson CJ, Landry B. 2006. Alien Insects: threats and implications for conservation of Galápagos Islands. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 99:121–143.
- Converse SJ, Royle JA, Adler PH, Urbanek RP, Barzen JA. 2013. A hierarchical nest survival model integrating incomplete temporally varying covariates. Ecology and Evolution **3**:4439–4447.
- Couri MS. 1999. Myiasis caused by obligatory parasites. Ia. *Philornis* Meinert (Muscidae): Pages 51–70 in J. H. Guimarães and N. Papavero, editors. Myiasis in man and animals in the Neotropical region - Bibliographic Database. FAPESP, Editora Pleidae, São Paulo, Brazil.
- de Carvalho CJB, Couri MS, Pont AC, Pamplona D, Lopes SM. 2005. A catalogue of the Muscidae (Diptera) of the Neotropical Region. Page 60-71, Zootaxa. Magnolia Press, Aukland, New Zealand.

- Delannoy CA. 1984. The Puerto Rican sharp-shinned hawk, *Accipiter striatus venator*: The ecology and breeding biology of a Neotropical island bird of prey. University of Colorado, USA.
- Delannoy CA, Cruz A. 1991. *Philornis* parasitism and nestling survival of the Puerto Rican sharp-shinned hawk. Page 93–103, in J. E. Loy and M. Zuk, editors. Bird-Parasite Interactions: Ecology, Evolution, and Behavior, 1st edition. Oxford University Press, New York, New York.
- Dirección Nacional de Parques. 1991. Plan de uso y gestión del Parque Nacional de Los Haitises y áreas periféricas. Page 1-381, Agencia Española de Cooperación Internacional y Agencia de Medio Ambiente de la Junta de Andalucía. Editora Corripio, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic.
- Dudaniec RY, Fessl B, Kleindorfer S. 2007. Interannual and interspecific variation in intensity of the parasitic fly, *Philornis downsi*, in Darwin's finches. Biological Conservation 139:325–332.
- Dudaniec RY, Kleindorfer S. 2006. Effects of the parasitic flies of the genus *Philornis* (Diptera : Muscidae) on birds. Emu **106**:13–20.
- FAO, WHO. 1998. Pesticide residues in food 1997. Report. (FAO Plant Production and Protection Paper - 145). Rome, Italy.
- Fessl B, Kleindorfer S, Tebbich S. 2006. An experimental study on the effects of an introduced parasite in Darwin's finches. Biological Conservation **127**:55–61.
- Fessl B, Tebbich S. 2002. *Philornis downsi* A recently discovered parasite on the Galápagos archipelago - A threat for Darwin's finches? Ibis **144**:445–451.
- Fessl B, Young GH, Young RP, Rodríguez-Matamoros J, Dvorak M, Tebbich S, Fa JE. 2010. How to save the rarest Darwin's finch from extinction: the mangrove finch on Isabela Island. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences 365:1019–1030.
- Gibbons D, Morrissey C, Mineau P. 2014. A review of the direct and indirect effects of neonicotinoids and fipronil on vertebrate wildlife. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22:103–118.

- Grant PR, Grant BR, Petren K, Keller LF. 2005. Extinction behind our backs: the possible fate of one of the Darwin's finch species on Isla Floreana, Galápagos. Biological Conservation 122:499–503.
- Hedlin E, Franke A. 2017. An introduction to survival analysis using generalized linear mixed models. Page 113–126, in D. L. Anderson, C. J. W. McClure, and A. Franke, editors. Applied Raptor Ecology: essentials from gyrfalcon research. The Peregrine Fund, Boise, Idaho, USA.
- Heisey DM, Shaffer TL, White GC. 2007. The ABCs of nest survival: theory and application from a biostatistical perspective. Studies in Avian Biology **34**:13–33.
- Johnson DH. 2007. Estimating nest sucess a guide to the methods. Studies in Avian Biology **34**:65–72.
- Johnson DH, Shaffer TL. 1990. Estimating nest success: when Mayfield wins. The Auk **107**:595–600.
- Kleindorfer S, Sulloway FJ. 2016. Naris deformation in Darwin's finches: experimental and historical evidence for a post-1960s arrival of the parasite *Philornis downsi*.
 Global Ecology and Conservation 7:122–131. Elsevier B.V.
- Knutie SA. 2014. Effects of an introduced parasitic nest fly on endemic avian hosts in the Galápagos Islands. PhD thesis, The University of Utah, USA.
- Knutie SA, Herman JM, Owen JP, Clayton DH. 2017. Tri-trophic ecology of native parasitic nest flies of birds in Tobago. Ecosphere **8**:e01670.
- Knutie SA, McNew SM, Bartlow AW, Vargas DA, Clayton DH. 2014. Darwin's finches combat introduced nest parasites with fumigated cotton. Current Biology 24:R355–R356. Elsevier.
- Koop JAH, Huber SK, Laverty SM, Clayton DH. 2011. Experimental demonstration of the fitness consequences of an introduced parasite of Darwin's finches. PLoS ONE 6:e19706.

- Koop JAH, Kim PS, Knutie SA, Adler F, Clayton DH. 2015. An introduced parasitic fly may lead to local extinction of Darwin's finch populations. Journal of Applied Ecology 53:511–518.
- Le Gros A, Stracey CM, Robinson SK. 2011. Associations between northern mockingbirds and the parasite *Philornis porteri* in relation to urbanization. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology **123**:788–796.
- Leite GA, Matsui QYP, Couri MS, Monteiro AR. 2009. New association between *Philornis* Meinert (Diptera: Muscidae) and Falconidae (Aves: Falconiformes). Neotropical Entomology **38**:686–687.
- Macquart J. 1853. Notice sur une nouvelle espece d'Aricia. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France **38**:657–660.
- Manzoli DE, Antoniazzi LR, Saravia MJ, Silvestri L, Rorhmann D, Beldomenico PM.
 2013. Multi-level determinants of parasitic fly infection in forest passerines. PLoS ONE 8:e67104.
- Marizán GR. 1994. Deforestation in protected areas: case study of Los Haitises National Park. Page 253–260, Third International Conference on Environmental Enforcement.
- Mayfield H. 1961. Nesting success calculated from exposure. Wilson Bulletin **73**:255–261.
- McClure CJW, Pauli BP, Mutch B, Juergens P. 2016. Assessing the importance of artificial nest sites for the population dynamics of endangered Northern Aplomado Falcons *Falco femoralis septentrionalis* in South Texas using stochastic simulation models. Ibis **159**:14–25.
- McClure CJW, Rolek BW, Hayes TI, Hayes CD, Thorstrom R, Curti M, Anderson DL. 2017. Successful enhancement of Ridgway's hawk populations through recruitment of translocated birds. Condor **119**:855–864.
- Mittermeier RA, Myers N, Gilrobles P, Mittermeier CG. 1999. Hotspots: Earth's biologically richest and most threatened ecosystems. CEMEX, S.A., Agrupación Sierra Madre, S.C., Mexico City, Mexico.

- Monroe W. 1966. Formation of tropical karst topography by limestone solution and reprecipitation. Caribbean J. Sci 6:1–7.
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, da Fonseca GAB, Kent J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature **403**:853–858.
- Nakagawa S, Schielzeth H. 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 4:133–142.
- O'Connor JA, Robertson J, Kleindorfer S. 2010a. Video analysis of host-parasite interactions in nests of Darwins finches. Oryx **44**:588–594.
- O'Connor JA, Sulloway FJ, Robertson J, Kleindorfer S. 2010b. *Philornis downsi* parasitism is the primary cause of nestling mortality in the critically endangered Darwin's medium tree finch (*Camarhynchus pauper*). Biodiversity and Conservation **19**:853–866.
- Quiroga MA, Reboreda JC, Beltzer AH. 2012. Host use by *Philornis* sp. in a passerine community in central Argentina. Revista Mexicana de Biodiversidad **83**:110–116.
- R Core Team. 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Reyes EMR, Astudillo-Sánchez E. 2017. Notes on the nest, owlets, diet, and parasites of the choco screech-owl (*Megascops guatemalae centralis*) in Loma Alta Communal Reserve, Western Ecuador. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 129:377–381.
- Rivera LW, Zimmerman JK, Aide TM. 2000. Forest recovery in abandoned agricultural lands in a karst region of the Dominican Republic. Plant Ecology **148**:115–125.
- Sæther B-E, Bakke Ø. 2000. Avian life history variation and contribution of demographic traits to the population growth rate. Ecology **81**:642–653.
- Stattersfield AJ, Crosby MJ, Long AJ, Wege DC. 1998. Birdlife Conservation Series, No.
 7; Endemic bird areas of the world: Priorities for biodiversity conservation.
 BirdLife International, Cambridge, UK.

- Teixeira DM. 1999. Myiasis caused by obligatory parasites Ib. General observations on the biology of species of the genus *Philornis* Meinert, 1980 (Diptera, Muscidae).
 Pages 71–77 in J. H. Guimarães and N. Papavero, editors. Myiasis in man and animals in the Neotropical region. Editora Pleiade, FAPESP, São Paulo, Brasil.
- Thorstrom R, Almonte J, Balbuena de la Rosa S. 2007. Current status and breeding biology of the Ridgway's hawk. Page 33–39, Proceedings of the Second Neotropical Raptor Conference. Igauzu, Argentina.
- Thorstrom R, Almonte J, Balbuena de la Rosa S, Rodríguez P, Fernández E. 2005. Surveys and breeding biology of *Buteo ridgwayi* (Ridgway's hawk) in Los Haitises, Dominican Republic. Caribbean Journal of Science 41:864–869.
- Tingle C, Rother J, Dewhurst C, Lauer S, King W. 2003. Fipronil: environmental fate, ecotoxicology and human health concerns. Page 1–66, Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology.
- Toft CA. 1991. Current theory of host-parasite interactions. Pages 3–15 in J. E. Loye and M. Zuk, editors. Bird-Parasite Interactions: Ecology, Evolution, and Behavior, 1st edition. Oxford University Press, New York, New York.
- Wiley JW, Wiley BN. 1981. Breeding season ecology and behavior of Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*). Condor **83**:132–151.
- Woolaver LGJ. 2011. Ecology and conservation genetics of Ridgway's hawk *Buteo ridgwayi*. PhD thesis, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Tables and Figures

For Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2015 and 2016: Generalized linear mixed model results for differences between control and treatment (with larvae experimentally reduced) groups. Confidence intervals were bootstrapped. Table 1.1

Model	R²	Coefficient	B	SE	đ	CI (95%)
No. larvae	0.224	Intercept	2.059	0.336	<0.001	1.381, 2.720
		Treatment	-3.844	0.370	<0.001	-4.614, -3.147
		Year	-1.077	0.323	<0.001	-1.728, -0.447
No. fledged	0.169	Intercept	-0.701	0.258	0.007	-1.238, -0.224
		Treatment	1.08	0.247	<0.001	0.618, 1.593
		Year	-0.062	0.196	0.754	-0.442, 0.330
Nestling survival	0.846	Intercept	3.205	1.414	0.023	1.193, 10.046
		No. larvae	-0.154	0.061	0.011	-0.363, -0.065
		Year	-1.115	1.09	0.306	-3.711, 1.190
No. Larvae = number	of P. pici larva	ae per nestling per visit (o	lependent variable)	for each group (i	ndependent varia	ible) random effects of

Nestling survival = individual nestlings that survived to fledge (dependent variable) compared with that individual's maximum larva count individual nestlings nested within each brood and fixed effects of treatment and year. No. fledged = number of nestlings fledged per pair that successfully hatched nestlings (dependent variable) for each group (independent variable), treatment and year as predictor variables. (independent variable), random effect of brood and fixed effects of year and maximum number of larvae. P-values <0.05 are in **bold**.

pici larvae for individual nestlings and broods, total nestlings fledged for each group by year, and average productivity (number of fledglings/pair that successfully produced nestlings) all with standard deviation. In the treatment group we experimentally removed P. pici larvae (see Methods). Note: most nestlings with P. pici larvae counts in the treatment group For Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2015 and 2016: Percent prevalence (presence/absence) of *Philornis pici* for untreated broods as well as average maximum counts of *P*. derive from nestlings prior to receiving their first treatment of fipronil. We calculate fledglings per pair rather than per brood, because some pairs had more than one brood before either discontinuing to breed, or successfully fledging young. Table 1.2

1

1

	20	15	50	<u>16</u>	2015 &	2016
	Control	Treatment	Control	Treatment	Control	Treatment
<i>P. pici</i> prevalence per brood (n)	93% (14)	*	86% (28)	*	88% (42)	*
Average max no. P. pici/brood (n)	20.2 ± 16.2 (14)	3.7±6.5 (24)	16.0±17.1 (28)	0.73 ± 2.0 (40)	17.4 ± 16.7 (42)	1.84 ± 4.4 (64)
Average max no. <i>P. pici</i> /nestling (n)	20.1±15.1 (24)	3.5 ± 6.5 (44)	14.6±15.65 (47)	0.6±1.8 (71)	16.44 ± 15.58 (71)	1.73 ± 4.44 (115)
Total nestlings fledged	10	32	10	58	20	06
Nestlings fledged/pair (n)	0.71±0.91 (13)	1.33±0.82 (24)	0.36±0.62 (26)	1.45±0.71 (40)	0.48±0.74 (39)	1.41±0.75 (64)
*D nici nravalanca nar hrand was nat ma	assured for the tre	atmont aroun				

P. pict prevaience per prood was not measured for the treatment group.

*For permissions see Appendix B (pg. 66)

23


Figure 1.1 For Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2015 and 2016. A) Maximum counts of *Philornis pici* larvae for hawk nestlings in untreated control nests (gray points) and treatment nests (black points) in which *P. pici* abundance was controlled by spraying nests and nestlings with 0.25% fipronil solution and manual removal of larvae from nestlings. Open points show nestlings that died before fledging and closed points show nestlings that survived to fledge. B) Average number of hawk nestlings fledged per pair for control (gray points) and treatment (black points). In A) and B) bars represent means, and points are jittered for visibility. C) The relationship between nestling survival and maximum larva count on a given nestling. Gray shading is the 95% confidence interval. Note that in A) all *P. pici* larva counts ≥ 8 in the treatment group derive from nestlings prior to receiving their first treatment of fipronil (see Methods).

CHAPTER TWO: ECOLOGICAL CORRELATES OF THE PARASITIC NEST FLY *PHILORNIS PICI* ABUNDANCE IN RIDGWAY'S HAWK (*BUTEO RIDGWAYI*) IN THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Abstract

Shifts in climate and human land-use practices alter ecosystem functioning, benefiting some organisms and disadvantaging others. Parasites function as a biological control for their host species in some ecosystems and parasites that are ecologically advantaged can limit host recovery or even drive the host species toward extinction. Understanding parasite-host ecology is increasingly important for conservation efforts in a changing world. Nest flies in the genus Philornis (Diptera: Muscidae) have been implicated in the decline of Darwin's finches in the Galápagos and are also known to negatively impact breeding success of the Critically Endangered Ridgway's hawk (Buteo *ridgwayi*) on the island of Hispaniola. Despite the importance of these effects on hosts, the ecology of Philornid nest flies is poorly understood. We examined biotic factors related to *Philornis* nest fly infestations of nestling Ridgway's hawks in the Dominican Republic, where both fly and hawk are native. We found that grass-cover was negatively associated with *Philornis pici* infestations, which is interesting in light of recent landscape-level changes to Ridgway's hawk habitat. Anthropogenic activities in Los Haitises National Park, the last strong-hold of Ridgway's hawk, have shifted the landscape from primary forest to a fragmented secondary forest with grassy patches. Our goal was to provide information on the ecology of nest flies in their native habitat that

would inform conservation efforts and allow us to make recommendations for future research.

Introduction

Parasites adversely affect their hosts by deriving nutrients at the hosts' expense (Price 1977). The study of parasite-host ecology is important for species management and conservation because parasitism contributes to the natural regulation of populations (Haldane 1990). Parasitism can threaten biodiversity, especially where changes to landscapes diminish the quality of host habitats and increase host exposure to outside elements (May 1988). Fragmented, diminished habitats can heighten the detrimental consequences parasitism has on a host species for example by increasing stress to the host, concentrating hosts so that parasite transmission between individuals is increased, and in some cases, parasitism can drive host species towards extinction (Myers 1979; Holmes 1996). For rare host species, the consequences of parasitism may be particularly severe because any adverse effect of parasitism on survival or recruitment could increase the host species' risk of extinction (Grzybowski & Pease 1999). Thus, understanding the causes and consequences of parasitism is important for the management and conservation of rare or threatened species affected by parasites. In the present study, we focused on identifying the biotic factors that influence the abundance and prevalence of a nest fly parasite of Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) an endangered raptor native to the Caribbean island of Hispaniola. As an island raptor in a developing country, Ridgway's hawk is in a category designated by recently published work as especially vulnerable to extinction (McClure et al. 2018; Buechley et al. 2019).

26

Parasite-host interactions may be particularly important for island species because these species are naturally isolated and historically more vulnerable to extinction than are mainland species (Diamond 1989; Smith et al. 1993; Loehle & Eschenbach 2012). In birds, the vulnerability of island species to extinction is especially pronounced, with > 90% of bird extinctions in the past 500 years having been in island birds (Loehle & Eschenbach 2012). Island bird species are often ecologically specialized and nonmigratory with a narrow latitudinal range, making them more susceptible than mainland species to extinction due to anthropogenic effects and climate change (Julliard et al. 2003; Crick 2004; Thomas et al. 2004). Other risks to island birds include the introduction of non-native pathogens and parasites (Lafferty et al. 2005). For example, the parasitic nest fly *Philornis downsi* (Diptera: Muscidae), introduced to the Galápagos islands ca. 1960, is driving naïve host species toward extinction (Koop et al. 2011, 2015; Knutie et al. 2014). However, in parts of the world where Philornid nest flies are native, less is known about the potential of these organisms to influence host populations.

Members of the genus *Philornis* Meinert, of which there are about 50 known species, are parasites of nesting birds (Couri 1999). Only the larval stages are parasitic. These larvae live in the nest substrate of their hosts, feeding externally (semihaematophagous lifestyle) or internally (subcutaneously or intramuscularly) on blood and other body fluids of their host (Teixeira 1999). By contrast, adult *Philornis* feed on nectar, fruits, and decaying matter (Teixeira 1999).

Philornis nest flies were first described on the island of Hispaniola in 1853 (Macquart 1853) and are native to the Caribbean as well as other parts of the Neotropics. Despite their widespread distribution and known parasitic habits (Teixeira 1999), there is little information about *Philornis* ecology in the Caribbean except in Tobago (Knutie et al. 2017). Factors that affect the abundance (intensity, quantity per sample unit; Koop et al. 2011) and prevalence (incidence, number of cases per sample unit; Knutie et al. 2017) in native hosts are poorly known. In Argentina, vegetative composition of the natural landscape was correlated with prevalence and abundance of *Philornis* parasitism of nestling passerines (Manzoli et al. 2013). Specifically, Manzoli et al. (2013) examined nests of 57 different species of forest passerines and found that abundance of *Philornis* torquans was correlated positively with presence of shrubs and inversely to grass height and tree height around nests. Anthropogenic modification of landscapes may also play a role in *Philornis* activity. In Florida, *Philornis porteri* parasitism of nestling northern mockingbirds (*Mimus polyglottos*) had higher prevalence and abundance in moderatelyvegetated suburban areas than in highly urbanized city landscapes or nature reserves (Le Gros et al. 2011). The mechanisms by which habitat characteristics influence parasitism are unclear. For example, vegetation and other physical characteristics of landscapes may influence landscape use by adult *Philornis*, or they may affect the microclimate around nests and therefore the conditions experienced by *Philornis* larvae, or both. Vegetation may also be associated with parasitism because of its influence on key abiotic factors, such as temperature and humidity. Fluctuations in dipteran fly populations have been associated with temperature and humidity (Goulson et al. 2005) and P. torquans parasitism of passerines in Argentina was also associated with temperature and rainfall (Antoniazzi et al. 2010; Manzoli et al. 2013).

In addition to the effects vegetation or other habitat characteristics may have on *Philornis* abundance and prevalence, host species that are unaffected by the parasite may

serve as reservoirs that promote nest fly populations and harm hosts more sensitive to parasitism (Knutie et al. 2016). Contemporary anthropogenic changes to landscapes may affect the distribution, density, and ecology of reservoir host species for *Philornis*, with cascading effects on less resilient host species.

Research on the island of Hispaniola has shown that the native nest fly *Philornis pici* negatively impacts breeding success of the endemic and IUCN-designated Critically Endangered Ridgway's hawk (BirdLife International 2018; Hayes et al. 2018). The hawk was formerly distributed across Hispaniola and despite having a wide prey base and a history of using a variety of landscapes, the sole wild population of ca. 200 breeding pairs is now isolated in the northeast sector of the Dominican Republic (Woolaver 2011; Woolaver et al. 2013; Anderson et al. 2017). Identifying biotic factors that influence parasite-host interactions, such as vegetative coverage or the abundance of potential reservoir hosts near hawk nests, may have important conservation implications for the Ridgway's hawk. Thus, the goal of our research was to identify biotic factors that correlate with parasitism by P. pici in Ridgway's hawk nestlings on Hispaniola in an effort to better inform conservation efforts, provide land managers with actionable information to improve the survival prospects of Ridgway's hawks, and furnish groundwork for future research. Because previous studies have identified vegetation as an important parameter that influences *Philornis* numbers, we included in our analysis measurements of percent cover and height of vegetation as well as the number of nest fly larvae parasitizing nestling Ridgway's hawks. We also investigated whether prevalence and abundance of nest fly parasitism in nestling hawks might be linked to a reservoir host (as in Knutie et al. 2016). For this goal, we chose to investigate the palmchat (Dulus

dominicus), a common bird species that builds large communal nest structures that are often cohabited by Ridgway's hawk (Wiley & Wiley 1981; Woolaver 2011).

Methods

Study Area

Los Haitises National Park (henceforth "Los Haitises") in northeastern Dominican Republic is an area rich in biodiversity despite anthropogenic changes to the landscape (Zanoni et al. 1990; Marizán 1994). For an in-depth description of the landscape structure and vegetative composition of Los Haitises see Zanoni et al. (1990). Organized deforestation of the region began in the 1960s to build infrastructure for sugar cane production, making the area more accessible to settlement by smallholder farmers and cattle ranching (Brothers 1997a, 1997b). Since its declaration as a forest reserve in 1968 and subsequent upgrade to National Park in 1976, Los Haitises has been almost continuously plagued by social, economic, and environmental conflicts (Zanoni et al. 1990; Marizán 1994; Brothers 1997a, 1997b). The park boundary, as well as the area it encompasses, have changed several times, from as little as 208 km² in 1976 up to 1600 km² in 1992. Currently, Los Haitises measures ca. 600 km² (Dominican Law: Ley 202-04). The park has a limestone karst topography described as "egg crate" with rounded "mogote" hills and sinkhole valleys, ranging from 0 - 380 m above sea level (Monroe 1966; Zanoni et al. 1990; Marizán 1994). Average annual rainfall in Los Haitises is the highest in the Dominican Republic - about 2700 mm annually. Average humidity is 70 – 75%, and average high and low temperatures are 32.5 and 25.5 °C (Marizán 1994). Climate does not vary much by season, though highest rainfall occurs between May and October and nighttime temperatures during these months may dip as much as 10 °C

below daytime levels (Wiley & Wiley 1981; Marizán 1994). Despite high rainfall, Los Haitises has little standing water due to the permeability of its karst landscape (Wiley & Wiley 1981). The park's botanical diversity is the highest in the Caribbean, with > 700species of vascular plants and several endemic vertebrates, including the solenodon (Solenodon paradoxus), a small mammal, and several bird species that include the palmchat, Dominican parrot (Amazona ventralis), and Ridgway's hawk (Marizán 1994). There are over 50 species of non-native plants that have been introduced to the area, many for agriculture (Zanoni et al. 1990). The royal palm (Roystonea borinquena) is native, but was not common in the area historically and was planted in forest clearings by park settlers, who valued the palm for its wood and for food (J. Polanco pers. comm.). Now many clearings have at least one, if not several, mature royal palms, which frequently contain nests of palmchat and Ridgway's hawk (Woolaver 2011, C. Hayes, pers. obs.). The palmchat, a frugivorous passerine most closely related to silkyflycatchers (*Ptiliogonatidae*) and waxwings (*Bombycillidae*, Fleischer et al. 2008; Spellman et al. 2008) is monotypic in the family *Dulidae*. palmchats construct cavity nests inside stick-based communal nest structures, sometimes as large as 1-meter across (C. Hayes unpublished data). Other bird species, including Ridgway's hawk, often build their own nests atop palmchat nest structures (Wiley & Wiley 1981; Curti et al. 2018). Data Collection

This study is part of a larger effort by The Peregrine Fund to conserve the Ridgway's hawk including the use of prophylactic treatments of nests and nestlings to prevent parasitism by nest flies. Our field methods for finding and observing Ridgway's hawk nesting pairs are described in detail in Hayes et al. (2018). Briefly, between January – May, 2016 and 2017, we located and followed breeding pairs of hawks during weekly visits through incubation. Pairs of hawks (n=42) were randomly selected from the Ridgway's hawk population in Los Haitises. When nestlings hatched we visited nests weekly to count nest fly larvae, which form a noticeable lump beneath the skin of nestlings and are easily detected by sight or by touch via a gentle massage. We defined abundance of larvae as the number of larvae per nestling on a given date. We defined prevalence of infestation as the probability of presence of nest fly larvae in a Ridgway's hawk nest (see Koop et al. 2011). In instances when a nesting attempt failed, we dissected the nest to record if *P. pici* pupae were present in the nesting substrate – an indication that nestlings had likely been infected, especially useful when we did not recover dead nestlings (Koop et al. 2011).

Around each Ridgway's hawk nest, we surveyed four 50-m linear transects that radiated from the nest tree in each cardinal direction. Every 10 m along each transect, we recorded above-ground height of each of five classes of vegetation commonly encountered near hawk nests: tree, shrub, herbaceous, grass, and bare ground. If more than one vegetation class was represented at a given point, we measured the dominant (taller) vegetation class (i.e., overstory) and recorded the presence only of that class. Thus, we measured 20 points per nest and used these data to establish percent coverage and mean height of vegetation. We used percent cover as well as height of vegetation classes because we wanted to include the variation between both tall and short vegetation as well as the amount of ground covered by that vegetation (0-100%). We also recorded whether a hawk nest was constructed exclusively by the hawks or constructed atop a palmchat nest and if so, whether the palmchat nest was concurrently in use by palmchats.

Statistical Analysis

We conducted all analyses in R version 3.5.1 (R Core Team 2018) and organized our data using tidyverse (Wickham 2016). We built linear mixed-effects regression (lmer) models with maximum likelihood using the automated model selection function "dredge" (package MuMIn, Barton 2018) to assess a global model composed of all vegetation variables of interest as well as nestling age and visit date. We then used the dredge function (package MuMIn, Barton 2018) to similarly assess a global lmer model of principal components (PCA) derived out of a correlation of the original vegetation variables of interest using R packages caret (Kuhn 2018), psych (Revelle 2018), and FactoMineR (Le et al. 2008). In all models we used $\log +1$ of the maximum count of nest fly larvae for individual nestlings as our response variable and included brood as a random effect. In the event that the larva count for a given nestling was zero for all visits, or if on two or more visits a nestling had an equal maximum count of larvae, we chose the latter visit. Over the course of this study, nestlings < 3 days of age were never parasitized by nest fly larvae, thus we excluded them from analyses to prevent the introduction of false zeros into the data set. We used Akaike's Information Criterion with small-sample correction (AICc) to rank and compare the top models and a null model.

We considered models to be competitive if they were $\leq 2 \Delta AICc$ of the top model (Burnham & Anderson 2002). We verified our top models by assessing the adequacy of residual plots (Zuur et al. 2009) as well as following the "nesting rule" which eliminates any model that has a higher AICc value when compared with a similar, more parsimonious model (Burnham & Anderson 2002; Richards 2008; Arnold 2010; Richards et al. 2011). Although model averaging is often recommended in this circumstance, we did not model average because, after eliminating these more complex models with higher weights, we found it more informative to examine individual covariates within the few top models, which we did using 85% confidence intervals (Arnold 2010) on models built using restricted maximum likelihood.

To assess whether palmchat construction of the hawk primary nest structure or concurrent use of the nest structure by palmchats and hawks correlated with either *P. pici* abundance or prevalence in hawk nests, we used a two-sample t-test and a Pearson's chisquared test with a simulated p-value based on 2000 replicates (R package: gmodels, Warnes et al. 2018). To determine if there was a difference between years in either nest fly abundance or prevalence we used a two-sample t-test and a Pearson's chi-squared test with Yates' continuity correction, respectively.

Results

Thirty-eight of the 42 nests had at least one hawk nestling infested by *P. pici* larvae and we found 12 *P. pici* pupae in one additional nest after the two nestlings had disappeared (Table 2.1). Of 66 total nestlings, 51 had \geq 1 *P. pici* larva, and six additional nestlings died in nests where a sibling had \geq 1 *P. pici* larva. Only three of 16 nestlings that successfully fledged were never infested by nest fly larvae (Table 2.1). We attributed 45 of 50 (90%) nestling mortalities to nest fly infestations, one to a fallen nest, and four to unknown causes. One of these unknown deaths was a possible siblicide. In this case, the nestling was not infected with *P. pici* up to the week before its disappearance; however, its older sibling in the nest was infected and survived to fledge. Thus, the total number of nestling deaths associated with nest fly infestation was 46 (Table 2.1).

Models within 2 Δ AICc of the top model are summarized in Table 2.2. Vegetation variables that were not included in the top model set were: coverage of bare ground, herbaceous-cover, herbaceous-height, shrub-height, and tree-cover. Models of PCA components were not competitive ($\leq 2 \Delta AICc$) when compared with models containing the original vegetation variables (see Statistical Methods). In all models, age and visit date covariates were positively correlated with nest fly parasitism of nestling hawks (Table 2.3). Grass variables were consistently included in top models and are the only vegetation variables that we found to be informative of nest fly abundance. Model 1 had the lowest AICc and included the vegetation variables grass-cover and grass-height (Table 2.2). We infer from model 1 that for our population sample, grass-cover had a moderate inverse relationship with *P. pici* parasitism of Ridgway's hawk nestlings (Table 2.3). The relationship between grass-height and parasitism is weak (Table 2.3) so we caution against making inferences based on this covariate. We found that grass-cover and grass-height were positively correlated (0.70 (t = 7.8411, df = 64, p = 6.146e-11); however, variance inflation in model 1 (as compared with the null model), was not high, significance of individual variables was not diminished (Table 2.3), and the model remained stable (i.e., its coefficients did not fluctuate drastically when one grass variable or the other was omitted). Residual plots suggested that having both grass variables present contributed to a more appropriate model in terms of basic assumptions (see Zuur et al. 2009). However, we recognize that by including both grass-cover and grass-height in model 1, we limit the extent to which the predictors can be independently interpreted. Although shrub-cover and tree-height were included in models $\leq 2 \Delta AICc$ of the top

model, neither variable was informative (85% confidence intervals span 0, Tables 2.2 and 2.3).

Although palmchats were associated with 36 (86%) of 42 Ridgway's hawk nests, they did not appear to be a factor in nest fly infestation of Ridgway's hawk nestlings (Table 2.1). Abundance of *P. pici* was not associated with concurrent use of nests by palmchats (t = 0.80457, df = 64, p = 0.424) or nest construction by palmchats (t = -0.19813, df = 64, p = 0.8436). Similarly, *P. pici* prevalence was not associated with concurrent use or construction of nests by palmchats ($x^2 = 0.86562$, df = NA, *simulated pvalue based on 2000 replicates* = 0.7131).

We found no difference between years 2016 and 2017 for either nest fly abundance (t = 0.746, df = 64, p = 0.4584) or prevalence ($x^2 = 0.98425$, df = 1, p = 0.3212).

Discussion

Our study of biotic variables and nest fly infestation of Ridgway's hawk nestlings in Los Haitises found that variation in vegetation was related to *P. pici* abundance and that grass-cover was the single vegetation variable most associated with reduced fly infestation. Nestling age and visit-date were positively correlated with nest fly abundance. This relationship makes sense even for a random search strategy by flies – i.e., the longer a host is available and the larger it grows, the more likely that a nest fly will find it. The same relationship between nestling age and nest fly abundance was true for passerines in Argentina (Segura & Reboreda 2011; Manzoli et al. 2013). Our results did not support palmchats as reservoir hosts in terms of either prevalence or abundance of nest flies.

Grass was the strongest predictor of nest fly abundance once we controlled for nestling age. Specifically, grass-cover was moderately associated with a decreased abundance in *P. pici* parasitism whereas grass-height showed a positive correlation with parasitism. However, because our sample size was small and the association weak, we recommend further investigation of the grass-height – nest fly relationship before inferences are made. In Argentina, abundance of the nest fly *P. torquans* in passerine bird broods was inversely related to grass-height (Manzoli et al. 2013). Percent coverage of grass was not measured in that study; however, there was no correlation between grass presence and *P. torquans* abundance (Manzoli et al. 2013). Rainfall, leading to increased humidity, was positively associated with the prevalence of nest fly *P. torquans* in Argentina (Antoniazzi et al. 2010; Manzoli et al. 2013). It is possible that the negative association we found between P. pici abundance and grass-cover was due to vegetationrelated variation in humidity. Grass-grown areas in Los Haitises tend to be more open, receive more direct sunlight, and have lower humidity than forested areas (C. D. Hayes, unpubl. data), all of which may negatively affect the microclimate of *P. pici* larvae in nests. An alternative, but not mutually exclusive explanation is that grass, in comparison to other vegetation, may offer limited cover to *P. pici* adults, benefiting insectivorous predators.

Variation in shrub-cover around nests did not significantly correlate with nest fly parasitism of hawk nestlings in Los Haitises. In Argentina, Manzoli et al. (2013) observed a positive relationship between presence of shrubs around nests and *P. torquans* abundance. In Florida, Le Gros et al. (2011) found that nest flies were more abundant in pastures and residential areas than in highly developed, urban or heavily vegetated, nature reserves. These findings by Le Gros et al. (2011) may be related to a greater density of shrubbery and other mid-level vegetation in suburban landscapes. It may be that shrub-cover is not related to *P. pici* abundance in the Los Haitises system; however, in light of the significance of shrub-covered landscapes from both Le Gros et al. (2011) in Florida and Manzoli et al. (2013) in Argentina, we recommend further investigation of shrub-cover and nest fly abundance in the *P. pici* ecosystem on Hispaniola.

It appears that tree-height is also not a factor in nest fly parasitism of Ridgway's hawk nestlings as tree-height in Los Haitises was not associated with nest fly abundance. By contrast, Manzoli et al. (2013) found a significant inverse relationship between tree height and *P. torquans* abundance in broods of nestling passerines, except in forests dominated by an introduced, non-native, honey locust tree (*Gleditsia triacanthos L*.), where nest fly abundance was positively correlated with tree-height. Manzoli et al. (2013) also found that abundance of nest flies per brood correlated with forest composition. Specifically, nest fly abundance was higher when some tree species were the predominant vegetation as compared to others (Manzoli et al. 2013). The recent history of landscape-level changes to vegetation structure in Los Haitises (Marizán 1994; Brothers 1997a, 1997b; J. Polanco pers. comm.) could be important for the abundance and prevalence of *P. pici* parasitism of nestling birds in the park. Further study is needed to determine if *P. pici* may be influenced by forest composition of either native tree species, such as royal palm, or the presence of other commonly encountered, introduced non-native trees such as the African tulip tree (Spathodea campanulata) or agriculture.

Palmchats did not seem to influence nest fly abundance or prevalence, although the small sample size in our study may have made such a relationship difficult to detect. Only six of the 42 Ridgway's hawk nests in our study were not associated with palmchat use or construction. palmchats are ubiquitous in Los Haitises, and can be found in small flocks in almost any forest clearing (C. Hayes pers. obs.). There are no historical data of palmchat use of the park, and it is possible that the documented landscape-level changes to Los Haitises have benefited the park's palmchat population. It is also possible that the prevalence or abundance of *P. pici* in Los Haitises is influenced by some other reservoir host species. Knutie et al. (2016, 2017) found that Galápagos mockingbird (*Mimus parvulus*) in the Galápagos and tropical mockingbird (*Mimus gilvus*) in Tobago were tolerant of *P. downsi* and *Philornis trinitensis* infestations, respectively; thus, each bird species is a potential driver of *Philornis* parasitism in their corresponding ecosystem. northern mockingbird is native to Hispaniola, where it is common (BirdLife International 2017). It is possible that the northern mockingbird, rather than the palmchat, may influence *P. pici* infestations of Hispaniolan birds, including Ridgway's hawk.

Very little is known of *P. pici* ecology in any system and we know even less in systems where the fly is native (but see Knutie et al. 2017; Hayes et al. 2018). *Philornis* larvae are the immediate beneficiaries of parasitism, in addition to being a simpler study subject because of their sedentary life-history; for these reasons most ecological research of *Philornis* has focused on the larval stage. Investigation of adult *Philornis* life-history and behavior may give insight into *Philornis* ecological relationships beyond those immediately related to the host and should be a component of future research. While a primary goal of our study was to identify the biotic factors associated with *P. pici* abundance and prevalence so that actionable measures could be employed to mitigate the effects of the parasite on the Ridgway's hawk population, we recommend further study

before initiating large-scale management actions in Los Haitises or any other system. As anthropogenic activities continue to modify and fragment landscapes, these activities have the potential to change the way pathogens and hosts interact across the globe making the study of parasite-host ecology increasingly important to conservation.

References

- Anderson DL, Thorstrom R, Hayes CD, Hayes TI. 2017. Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*), version 1.0. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York, USA. Available from https://doi.org/10.2173/nb.ridhaw1.01.
- Antoniazzi LR, Manzoli DE, Rohrmann D, Saravia MJ, Silvestri L, Beldomenico PM, Pablo Beldomenico CM, Kitchener A. 2010. Climate variability affects the impact of parasitic flies on Argentinean forest birds. Journal of Zoology 283:126–134.
- Arnold TW. 2010. Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. Journal of Wildlife Management **74**:1175–1178.
- Barton K. 2018. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.42.1.
- BirdLife International. 2017. *Mimus polyglottos* (amended version of 2016 assessment). Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-1.RLTS.T22711026A111233524.en (accessed February 14, 2019).
- BirdLife International. 2018. Buteo ridgwayi. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T22695886A130689043.en (accessed December 16, 2018).
- Brothers TS. 1997a. Deforestation in the Dominican Republic: a village-level view. Environmental Conservation **24**:213–223.
- Brothers TS. 1997b. Destruction of a lowland tropical forest, Los Haitises, Dominican Republic. Ambio **26**:551–552.
- Buechley ER, Santangeli A, Girardello M, Neate-Clegg MH, Oleyar D, McClure, Christopher J. W. Şekercioğlu ÇH. 2019. Global raptor research and conservation

priorities: tropical raptors fall prey to knowledge gaps. Diversity and Distributions:1–14.

- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2002. Model Selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach, 2nd edition. Springer, New York.
- Couri MS. 1999. Myiasis caused by obligatory parasites. Ia. *Philornis* Meinert (Muscidae): Pages 51–70 in J. H. Guimarães and N. Papavero, editors. Myiasis in man and animals in the Neotropical region - Bibliographic Database. FAPESP, Editora Pleidae, São Paulo, Brazil.
- Crick H. 2004. The impact of climate change on birds. Ibis 146:48–56.
- Curti M, Hayes CD, Hayes TI, Silven MC. 2018. First description of Ashy-faced Owl (*Tyto glaucops*) nest and first record of ashy-faced owl nesting in palmchat (*Dulus dominicus*) nest on Hispaniola. The Journal of Caribbean Ornithology **31**:17–19.
- Diamond JM. 1989. The present, past and future of human- caused extinctions.
 Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences 325:469–477.
- Fleischer RC, James HF, Olson SL. 2008. Convergent Evolution of Hawaiian and Australo-Pacific Honeyeaters from Distant Songbird Ancestors. Current Biology 18:1927–1931. Elsevier Ltd.
- Goulson D, Derwent LC, Hanley ME, Dunn DW, Abolins SR. 2005. Predicting calyptrate fly populations from the weather, and probable consequences of climate change. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:795–804.
- Grzybowski JA, Pease CM. 1999. A model of the dynamics of Cowbirds and their host communities. The Auk **116**:209–222.
- Haldane JBS. 1990. Disease and evolution. Garland Publishing, Inc. Originally published in: LaRicerca Sci Suppl 19:68-76, New York & London.
- Hayes CD, Hayes TI, McClure CJW, Quiroga M, Thorstrom RK, Anderson DL. 2018. Native parasitic nest fly impacts reproductive success of an island-endemic host. Animal Conservation.

- Holmes JC. 1996. Parasites as threats to biodiversity in shrinking ecosystems. Biodiversity and Conservation **5**:975–983.
- Julliard R, Jiguet F, Couvet D. 2003. Common birds facing global changes: What makes a species at risk? Global Change Biology **10**:148–154.
- Knutie SA, Herman JM, Owen JP, Clayton DH. 2017. Tri-trophic ecology of native parasitic nest flies of birds in Tobago. Ecosphere **8**:e01670.
- Knutie SA, McNew SM, Bartlow AW, Vargas DA, Clayton DH. 2014. Darwin's finches combat introduced nest parasites with fumigated cotton. Current Biology 24:R355–R356. Elsevier.
- Knutie SA, Owen JP, McNew SM, Bartlow AW, Arriero E, Herman JM, DiBlasi E, Thompson M, Koop JAH, Clayton DH. 2016. Galápagos mockingbirds are tolerant hosts of introduced parasites that affect Darwin's finches. Ecology 97:940–950.
- Koop JAH, Huber SK, Laverty SM, Clayton DH. 2011. Experimental demonstration of the fitness consequences of an introduced parasite of Darwin's finches. PLoS ONE 6:e19706.
- Koop JAH, Kim PS, Knutie SA, Adler F, Clayton DH. 2015. An introduced parasitic fly may lead to local extinction of Darwin's finch populations. Journal of Applied Ecology 53:511–518.
- Kuhn M. 2018. caret: Classification and Regression Training.
- Lafferty KD, Harvell CD, Smith KF, Torchin ME, Dobson AP, Kuris AM. 2005. The Role of Infectious Diseases in Natural Communities. Pages 111–134 Species invasions: insights into ecology, evolution and biogeography.
- Le Gros A, Stracey CM, Robinson SK. 2011. Associations between northern mockingbirds and the parasite *Philornis porteri* in relation to urbanization. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology **123**:788–796.
- Le S, Josse J, Husson F. 2008. FactoMineR: A Package for Multivariate Analysis. Journal of Statistical Software **25**:1–18.

- Loehle C, Eschenbach W. 2012. Historical bird and terrestrial mammal extinction rates and causes. Diversity and Distributions **18**:84–91.
- Macquart J. 1853. Notice sur une nouvelle espece d'Aricia. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France **38**:657–660.
- Manzoli DE, Antoniazzi LR, Saravia MJ, Silvestri L, Rorhmann D, Beldomenico PM. 2013. Multi-level determinants of parasitic fly infection in forest passerines. PLoS ONE 8:e67104.
- Marizán GR. 1994. Deforestation in protected areas: case study of Los Haitises National Park. Page 253–260, Third International Conference on Environmental Enforcement.
- May R. 1988. Conservation and Disease. Conservation Biology 2:28–30.
- McClure CJW et al. 2018. State of the world's raptors: Distributions, threats, and conservation recommendations. Biological Conservation **227**:390–402. Elsevier.
- Monroe W. 1966. Formation of tropical karst topography by limestone solution and reprecipitation. Caribbean J. Sci 6:1–7.
- Myers N. 1979. Islands of Conservation. New Scientist:600–602. New Scientist Publ Expediting Inc., Elmont, NY 11003.
- Price PW. 1977. General Concepts on the Evolutionary Biology of Parasites. Evolution **31**:405–420.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Revelle W. 2018. psych: Procedures for Psychological, Psychometric, and Personality Research. Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois USA.
- Richards SA. 2008. Dealing with overdispersed count data in applied ecology. Journal of Applied Ecology **45**:218–227.
- Richards SA, Whittingham MJ, Stephens PA. 2011. Model selection and model averaging in behavioural ecology: the utility of the IT-AIC framework. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 65:77–89.

- Segura LN, Reboreda JC. 2011. Botfly parasitism effects on nestling growth and mortality of Red-crested Cardinals. Wilson Journal of Ornithology 123:107–115.
- Smith FDM, May RM, Pellew R, Johnson TH, Walter KR. 1993. How much do we know about the current extinction rate? Trends in Ecology and Evolution **8**:375–378.
- Spellman GM, Cibois A, Moyle RG, Winker K, Keith Barker F. 2008. Clarifying the systematics of an enigmatic avian lineage: What is a bombycillid? Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 49:1036–1040. Elsevier Inc.
- Teixeira DM. 1999. Myiasis caused by obligatory parasites I b. General observations on the biology of species of the genus *Philornis* Meinert, 1980 (Diptera, Muscidae).
 Pages 71–77 in J. H. Guimarães and N. Papavero, editors. Myiasis in man and animals in the Neotropical region. Editora Pleiade, FAPESP, São Paulo, Brasil.

Thomas CD et al. 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427:145–148.

- Warnes GR, Bolker B, Lumley T, Johnson RC. 2018. gmodels: Various R Programming Tools for Model Fitting. Contributions from Randall C. Johnson are Copyright SAIC-Frederick, Inc. Funded by the Intramural Research Program, of the NIH, National Cancer Institute and Center for Cancer Research under NCI Contract NO1-CO-12400.
- Wickham H. 2016. Tidyverse: Easily install and load "Tidyverse" packages. R package version 1.2.1.
- Wiley JW, Wiley BN. 1981. Breeding season ecology and behavior of Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*). Condor **83**:132–151.
- Woolaver LG, Nichols RK, Morton ES, Stutchbury BJM. 2013. Feeding ecology and specialist diet of critically endangered Ridgway's hawks. Journal of Field Ornithology 84:138–146.
- Woolaver LGJ. 2011. Ecology and conservation genetics of Ridgway's hawk *Buteo ridgwayi*. PhD thesis, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Zanoni TA, Mejía P. MM, Pimentel B. JD, García G. RG. 1990. La flora y la vegetación de Los Haitises, República Dominicana. Moscosoa **6**:46–98.

Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Walker NJ, Saveliev AA, Smith GM. 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology. Page (Gail M, Krickeberg K, Samet JM, Tsiatis A, Wong W, editors). Springer, New York, NY USA.

Table 2.1	For P. pici infestation and survival of Ri	dgway's hawk (Bu	<i>uteo ridgwayi</i>) ne	stlings in Los Ha	itises National
where P. pici	pupae were found in the nest cup substrate a	after nestlings had o	lied (see methods). Palmchat (<i>Dulu</i>	ucci iai va ui is dominicus)
columns are th	he number of Ridgway's hawk nests that we	tre either built by or	r inhabited by palı	mchats (with) and	l those that
were not (witl	lout).				
3		No Netlinge	No Nactlinge	Nacte with	Nacte without

P. pici present 38 (39) 51 (59) 13 38 (46) 33 5 P. pici absent 4 (3) 15 (7) 3 12 (4) 3 1 Total 42 66 16 50 36 6		Nests	Nestlings	No. Nestlings Fledged	No. Nestlings Died	Nests with Palmchat	Nests without Palmchat
P. pici absent 4 (3) 15 (7) 3 12 (4) 3 1 Total 42 66 16 50 36 6	P. pici present	38 (39)	51 (59)	13	38 (46)	33	5
Total 42 66 16 50 36 6	P. pici absent	4 (3)	15 (7)	3	12 (4)	ß	1
	Total	42	66	16	50	36	9

Tables

Table 2.2	AICc results for linear mixed models comparing log+1 of <i>P. pici</i> larvae to vegetation variables as well as
age and visit-	late (see Methods) for Ridgway's hawk (<i>Buteo ridgwayi</i>) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican
Republic, 201	6 and 2017.

Model No.	Vegetation Model	AICc	AAICc	df	wt
1.*	age + grass-cover + grass-height	214.30	0.00	6	0.129
2.	age + grass-cover	214.70	0.40	5	0.105
;*	age + visit-date	214.76	0.46	5	0.102
4.	age + visit-date + grass-cover + grass-height	215.22	0.92	7	0.081
5.	age + visit-date + grass-cover	215.34	1.04	9	0.076
6.*	age + visit-date + shrub-cover	215.39	1.09	9	0.074
7.*	age + visit-date + tree-height	215.69	1.39	9	0.064
ø	Age	215.85	1.55	4	0.059
.6	age + grass-cover + grass-height + tree-height	215.92	1.62	7	0.057
10.	age + grass-cover + grass-height + shrub-cover	216.01	1.71	7	0.055
11.	visit-date + tree-height	216.08	1.78	5	0.053
12.	age + visit-date + grass-cover + shrub-cover	216.22	1.92	7	0.049
13.	age + grass-cover + shrub-cover	216.24	1.94	9	0.049
	Null	219.60	5.30	ŝ	0.001
* Modolo	s for which we remost constistes (Table 2.3). Are - nestling are in daw	······································	infrance ac a dari	solution form	or (001-266).

grass-cover and shrub cover are the percent coverage of the overstory for each variable; grass-height (cm) and tree-height (m) are mean Models for which we report covariates (Table 2.3). Age = nestling age in days; visit-date = day of year as a decimal number (001–366); above ground measurements.

Table 2.3	Coefficients (β) of top models (see methods for model selection process) for linear mixed models \pm
standard ei	error, comparing log+1 of <i>P. pici</i> larvae to vegetation variables as well as age and visit-date for Ridgway's
hawk (Bute	'eo ridgwayi) in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic, 2016 and 2017. 85% confidence intervals are
in parenthes	ses.

Model No.	Intercept	Age	Visit-date	Grass-cover	Grass-height	Shrub-cover	Tree-height	ICC
Ŀ	*1.532 (1.038, 2.047)	*0.039 (0.017, 0.059)	ų	*-0.038 (-0.060, -0.017)	*0.006 (0.001, 0.012)	1	ı	0.4298
з.	-0.150 (-1.390, 1.098)	*0.032 (0.010, 0.054)	*0.014 (0.003, 0.025)	ŗ.	I.	t	ŗ	0.4799
6.	-0.511 (-1.779, 0.774)	*0.031 (0.009, 0.053)	*0.016 (0.005, 0.027)	I.	F.	0.015 (-0.001, 0.031)	Ę	0.4644
7.	0.148 (-1.099, 1.423)	*0.027 (0.004, 0.049)	*0.016 (0.005, 0.026)	7	р	ä	-0.041 (-0.090, 0.008)	0.4524
* 85% co cover are	infidence interval the percent covi	s do not span 0. A erage of the overs	ge = nestling age i tory for each; gras	n days; visit-date = ss-height (cm) and	day of year as a tree-height (m) a	decimal number (C re mean above gro	001–366); grass-cov ound measurement;	er and shrub ICC =

intraclass correlation coefficient: [(within-nest covariance) / (within-nest covariance + overall variance)]. - Variable not included in model.

48

APPENDIX A

Photographs of study organisms and Los Haitises National Park, Dominican

Republic



Figure A.1 *Philornis pici* adult (Photo: Martín Quiroga)



Figure A.2 Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) adult



Figure A.3 Three *Philornis pici* larvae in the left leg of a nestling Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*).



Figure A.4 *Philornis pici* larvae in the face of a nestling Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*).



Ridgway's hawk (Buteo ridgwayi) adult pair on their self-made nest in a deciduous tree (Photo: Thomas Hayes). Figure A.5



Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) adult pair in their nest atop a palmchat (*Dulus dominicus*) communal nest structure in a royal palm (*Roystonea boringuena*). Figure A.6



Figure A.7 Man-made path through forest vegetation in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic.



Figure A.8 Cultivated valley between limestone karst hills with secondary forest vegetation in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic.



Figure A.9 A climber accesses a Ridgway's hawk (*Buteo ridgwayi*) nest in a royal palm tree (*Roystonea borinquena*). The palm is in a small valley pasture and secondary forest growth is visible on the rocky karst hill in the background (Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic).



Figure A.10 Palmchat (Dulus dominicus) adult.


Figure A.11View from below: palmchat (Dulus dominicus) communal nest structure in a coconut palm (Cocosnucifera).



Figure A.12 Climber, Thomas Hayes accessing a palmchat (*Dulus dominicus*) nest in a coconut palm (*Cocos nucifera*).



Figure A.13 Climber, Thomas Hayes, standing between two palmchat (*Dulus dominicus*) nests in a royal palm (*Roystonea borinquena*). The palm is located in a small-valley farm plot between low karst hills in Los Haitises National Park, Dominican Republic.

APPENDIX B

Permission to Publish Chapter 1

RightsLink Printable License

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Dec 10, 2018

This Agreement between 1811 West Palouse St. ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4485600718173
License date	Dec 10, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Animal Conservation
Licensed Content Title	Native parasitic nest fly impacts reproductive success of an island- endemic host
Licensed Content Author	C, D, Hayes, T, I, Hayes, C, J, W, McClure, et al
Licensed Content Date	Sep 28, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	0
Licensed Content Issue	0
Licensed Content Pages	8
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	TBD
Expected completion date	May 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	45
Requestor Location	1811 West Palouse St. 1811 West Palouse St.
	BOISE, ID 83705 United States Attn: 1811 West Palouse St.
Publisher Tax 1D	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	
	TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a "Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServiet

1/5

RightsLink Printable License

Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.conyright.com</u>).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are bereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServet

12/10/2018	RightsLink Printable License
O N Q II A B	OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, NTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES WRE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED WY YOU.
• W	VILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of
th	his Agreement by you.
• Y	'ou shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their
re	espective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or
th	areatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach
o	f this Agreement by you.
• II AS PP CC UU V N L B B CC D D F H	N NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY PECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR UNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR ISE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, REGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT JUNITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, USINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY ALLURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED IEREIN.
 S to at th sl 	hould any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction o be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to chieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and he legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement hall not be affected or impaired thereby.
• T	he failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not
c	onstitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition
o	f this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or
c	xcused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party
g	ranting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of
a	ny provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or
c	onsent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
• T	his Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by
y	ou without WILEY's prior written consent.
• A	any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days
6	rom receipt by the CCC.

 These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchSarv[et

3/5

RightsLink Printable License

all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
 the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any
 legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions
 or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New
 York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party
 hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any
 objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or
 certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article. The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library http://olabout.wiley.com/Wiley.CDA/Section/id-410895.html

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServiet

RightsLink Printable License

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777,

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet